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FLEMING INTERVIEW 

CULBERT: Did you get those memos that ... ? 

FLEMING: I did, yes, and I must confess I'm not sure whether they are here 

on my desk or at home. I looked for them day before yesterday and couldn't 

... to do some more thinking and preparation. We had a great stack of 

stuff on that table at home and my wife went through it and I went through . 

it and I read ·· wtth interest··sorne"of .my memos .that you -had xeroxed. 

CULBERT: What I would like to ask you about .is not the specifics o.f the 

memos but just the existence of this and I wondered if .you could say something 

about it. These are daily summaries of the n~twork television coverage during . 

the period of the TET 1968. I wonder if you could say something about it. 

FLEMING: Well, I think because it i~ pertinent, though it sounds a little 

self-serving, let me start with another question that you may want to raise, 

how I happen to 
. 

go to work there. I was running the ABC bureau here in . 
Washington. The practice was that whenever any president was going to do 

something on television, we rotated the turns. It was called the pool and 

each network would take its turn at providing the manpower and the technical 

people. When we later persuaded LBJ to permit installation of video-taping 

equipment, television equipment, really cameras in the theater of the White 

House and we built at network expense, built the control room, the frequency 

of things he would do increased. 

One morning he had one that was just a simple thing of "Give to the 

American Red Cross,'' and it was to be fed to a11 three networks which feed 

from the White House. It was set for nine-thirty in the morning, and the 

President and Jack Valenti came downstairs from the bedroom at about 9:10 and 

walked in and said they were ready to do it. The young producer we had 



LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh

FLEMING INTERVIEW 2 . 

assigned to the job had to say he wasn't ready. He had been ready at nine 

o'clock with everybody, but when he said to all the other three networks, 

including his own, that everything was all set, somebody at NBC decided to go 

for coffee and we lacked one man to push one button in the NBC shop. So the 

President said, "Well, then, if you are not ready why don't I do it once and 

see how it goes." And so he did. He read [from] the teleprompter. And 

-when he finished he said, ·••well, that ought to be good. I can't do any better 

than that." Which Bill Weisel said, ''I'm sorry, Mr. President, nobody recorded 

that one.'' So he said, "But we will be ready very shortly." In the meantime 

he is frantically telling NBC "Find your guy and bring him back." Valenti 

got impatient and went into the control room and leaned over the microphone 

and said, "Whenever you are ready, Mr. President." Valenti didn't know and 

nobody had told him that ABC and CBS were ready and c::ould go and then later 
~ . 

. we could feed over our circuits to NBC and they wouldn't have missed anything. 

But the President started to read it again and Weisel, the .producer, said, 

"I'm sorry, Mr. President, NBC is not ready.'' . So, i"n just a couple of moments 

apparently, I never knew exactly how long, NBC was ready and they went ahead 

and the whole package was done before nine-thirty. 

But later in the morning Valenti called me and· said, "Don't ever send 

over people who are not equipped to do the job.'' And I said, ''~Jell, I don't 

even know what you are talkfog about, Jack •. I don't know what problem you 

had, but let me check and call you back.'' So I .called Jack back and I said, 

"Jack, one thing you have got to understand ts you don't belong in the control 

room. I don't go in the control room when a crew is doing a job. That is an 
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engineering technical function where I cannot contribute anything and you 

cannot contribute anything; you just created 6onfusion.'' We got to arguing 

a 1 ittle bit more about it until finally I .said, "Jack, there is no point. in 

discussing it any. further. You don't have anybody over there that understands 

the problems of television, so there is no point in me explaining them to you 

or to anybody else on the staff." 

So about an hour later Bill Moyers called me and said, 11 Did you tell 

Valenti we didn't have anybody that knew anythi .ng about television? 11 I said, 

"Yes." He said, 11 What else did you tell him?" I said, "This is far as I'm 

going to go, because this is a p
i
'ersona1 argument that the two of us had and 

. I 

I 've forgotten it a 1 ready and I hope·-Jack has. 11 
. This voice came on and said, 

"I have." And I said, "Wh~t is going on?'' Bill said', "Well, I should have 

told you, I've got you on the speaker phone and Valenti and Maryin Watson 

and I are here talking to you. So we would li:ke your. recommendatfons · of who 

we ought to get. 11 And I said, "Well, this will take me a lHtle while. I'll 

call you back. 11 

So about an hour later I. called htm and said, nI've got four names for 

you to consider and I can send yoLl over a memorandum detailing what background 

in each one of them was.'' It happens one was Bill Small~ who is now president 

of NBC News. One was Bill Monroe that runs "Meet the Press." They were both 

my opposite numbers of bureau chiefs at NBC and CBS. One was a you.ng fell ow 

who worked for me and one was somebody else, I don't recall. Moyers' answer 

was, "Well, your name is not on the list.'' I said, ''No . " And he said, "Well, 

you didn't quite get the point. I th~ught you would realize that when Watson 

and Valenti and I called you ~ogether, we were calling you with instructions of 

http:anythi.ng
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the President, and we were expecting you to say you were the man that would 

take the job. 11 I said, "I'm not sure I am. 11 ·And he said, "Well, I will get 

back to you. 11 So he called a little bit later that afternoon and said, "I 

11need to have every place you've worked and lived for the past twenty years. 

Well, I knew that was a security check. 

So I was fortunate that I worked for Jim Hagerty·. ·Hagerty had been 

Eisenhower's press secretary and had gone to ABC N~ws ··as the vice president 

for news and was the top man. So, I called Jim and I 'said, "What do I do?" 

He said, "You don.'t have any choice. If the President of the United States 
I

tells you that you are in charg~ of shoveling the snow·off the front ~idewalkI . 

every Fourth of July, you don't te11 him that it doesn't ·snow on the Fourth 

of July. You don't ask hiT where you get a snow shovel. You just tell your 

wife you won't be home any .. Fourth of July. Not many .people get asked to work 

for a president and if you get asked, you don't have any choice.'' So I talked 

to my wi"fe about it and told her that this thi _ng was moving pretty rapidly. 

Then Moyers called up and said,- ''Will you see the President with me at 

six o'clock?" I said, "Yes." I went over at stx o'clock and I knew we hadn 1 t 

gotten into the Oval Office -until he said, "Send them .in. 11 He ·was s_i gni ng 

mail and he didn't look up. And there seemed to me to be quite a while. It 

probably was a couple of minutes. So Moyers finally said, "Mr. President, 

you and I have had some conversations today and Bob and I have had some con-

versati ons today, 11 and then he said, "You tho_ught it was time that you and 

he talked." He still didn't look up. He said,-"! don't know what there is 

to talk about. I know him. I like him. r trust him. I need him." I said, 

''Mr. President, as lo_ng as r live I'll br_ag you said that, but let's talk about 
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the fourth. I don't think you need me." I said, "Because I don't love you." 

That point was the first time he looked up. And he said, "What do you mean 

about that?" I said, "Moyers here and Watson and Valenti, they would do any­

thing for you, but I'm an admirer of yours. I think you are a good president 

and I'm a supporter of that, but I've got a wife and two kids that are more 

important to me than any job and if I worked for you, I would have to work 

around the clock and I wouldn't see them and I don't think I'm the one. 11 So 

we talked about an hour about what I could do for him. Some of it he just 

said, "Well, if you are not going to work here, what should I learn from you 

being here?'' And we ta 1ked. 

So then I said I'd have to go talk to my wife first. By the time I had 

gotten home he had called her and asked her ... first . time she had ever 

talked to him. . He s~id, "What don't you like .about me?" She said, "I 

like you a lot." He said, "Well, I just tried to hire your husband and he 

says he has to talk t o you and what are you going to·· tell him?" She says, "I'm 

. going to tell him you should have hired hirn three years ago.'' And he said, 

"Well, I think you and I will get along just fine." 

So then he told me, "I'm going ..to Hawaii this weekend to meet wi.th 

Westmoreland and Ky and Thieu"--who have been number one and number two men 

in the Vietnamese_government--"and I want you to go as part of the staff. 11 I 

said, "Mr. President, I can go for ABC and I can arrange that with no problem 

at all, and when I go I can do anything that I can to be of help to you . But 

for one thing you have got to have a better security check than you've had 

before you'll take me, because Joe McCarthy used to ·say to me, 'Wait until 

you see what I've put in your FBI file.' I think I can deny anything that is 
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damaging that is in that file. I don't know whatever is put there and you 

don't know what is put there. I can'i risk e~barrassing you. It could be 

that you take me on, announce that I'm coming and I start to work here and 

then find that the FBI has something that I would have to explain.'' So he 

said, "We11 , you come a1ong and go to Hono1ul u with us." He ca11 ed Marvin 

Watson and he said, "How long does it take to get a thorough FBI check?" 

And Marvin Watson said, "Five days." He said, "I want this one in three days. 11 

Well, there wasn't anything about me in the FBI files from McCarthy, he was 

just being his loose threats. 

But early on ... and it wasn't very early ... not immediately, but 

after a time it was the President's intention, he sai·d, that I would become 

the press secretary. But ~ didn't think that was a ·very good idea so I kind 

of back~topped Moyers and I had frequent access to the ·President, because 

Moyers. gave me what we called the morni _ng shift.. Four of us would go to the 

President's bedroom at seven o'clock in the morning. He would have been awake 

for an hour already and read a bunch of stuff, and he had a lot of questions 

or none. We would be there really just to get directtons of thi~gs he wanted 

done. He oftentimes would ask, "Hh.at do they mean when they say such and · 

such?'' We were supposed ' to have read fou~ morning newspapers ·before we got 

there. We split those up amongst us. And if .none of us had an answer to this 

question, "What do they mean when they say... ?" I would immedi·ately pick 

up and say, "Did you hear this on ·the radi"o?" He would say, "Yes." Ne 11, I 

learned this very early that he didn't know what station he had listened to 

or he would switch from one channel to another. He had another ..• he had 

a push button, so he didn't even know where it was tuned to, but he was often 
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critical of those who analyzed his motives in doing things and he would 

resent their doing it to the point of "Why did they say that about me when 

they can't possibly know?" But he wouldn't know who it was that said that. 

Which was hell trying to find out who it was that said· that. If somebody else 

in the office hadn't heard it when they got back--Moyers and a couple of other 

fellows in the office and two or three of the girls who listened to the morning 

broadcasts for news--we wouldn't know. Oftentimes, r would do nothing about 

it and he would forget he had asked and so i·t wouldn't ~ome up again. 

But also, after a reasonably short period, he had me start monitoring the 
I 

evening news shows and those memorandums that you saw were the daily product 

of those. I couldn't tell you now how long that was done. You probably may 

have it in going through the file and know better than I. It seems to me, it. 	 ! ; 

didn't last a very long tiroe. Coincident with that, everybody on the staff 

was supposed to write memos on any conversations they had with reporters during 

the day. He was always very interested, very concerned in media treatment of 

him. 

One of the problems really of working for· him was that he needed five 

hours of. sleep a n.ight and that was all. He would have a forty-five minute 

nap in the afternoon. So he had more working . hours than most human beings. 

Late i"n the evening I had learned very early that everybody on the staff would 

. gather in the then b_i g West Wi"ng 1obby of the .White House--at about five 

minutes to eleven at night, if we were still there- -because about eleven o'clock 

the phone would start rin9ingand he would look .for people to eat with him. 

J 	 Those were the most f~scinati~g times, but they were two-hour sessions from 

eleven to one a.rn. and we were supposed to be back in the bedroom at seven. 
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And also he had a dismal taste in food. One night I said to him, "Mr. 

President, I'm not coming here to eat with you any more. I'm going to eat 

before I get here out of the sandwich machine. I 1 11 -· eat downstairs in the 

basement. I '11 eat better than I eat here . " He said, "What do you mean?" 

And I said, ''For the last four nights hamburger ~ patties, slited green tomatoes, 

. pinto beans and tapioca pudding. 11 
. He said, "How do ··you ·mean, the last four 

days we have had that? 11 I said, "~Je have. Don't you know what you have 

eaten?" And he said, "No, I don't pay any attention ·to what I eat . " To him 

it was just fuel and he didn't care. But in that period at night he was 

always just reminiscent. He never would be argumentati-ve. He seldom talked 

about current prob1ems . . He would go back in his memory · to other peop1 e and 

tell stories he loved to recall . . He would ·talk about reporters he had known 

long before I ever came to.Washington. 

But the memos you speak of ... I'm giving you an awf ully long answer 

on this . . . was t hat he was very sensitive to what impression he was making. 

He had a strong feeling that he was resented as a Texan. I used to argue that 

I had covered politics a long time and never heard it· used as a complaint . 

He said, "That must be because you wouldn't notice it, because you feel the 

same way." And I would say, "No, I don't have any resentment against Texas 

any more than I have a Georgian or the New Englander." But he did, he thought 
v' 	 people did. And Moyers thought people did, resented the Texans. Christian 

would argue. So, most of the Texans I have known have had that . 

CULBERT: No, what you told me was just fascinating and that is fine with me. 

Whenever I run interviews I give people a chance to answer questions however 

they feel. But since I sent these memos and was interested in the subject, I 
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was just wondering if you can remember ... I found some television memos 

written by Peter Benchley and also by Loyd Hackler. I think you are right, 

this didn't last very long, but it is during this especially critical period, 

just before he decides not to run for reelection in 1968. 

FLEMING: Well, I think it was more the period when he was deciding what 

to do about Vietnam, changing his . views on Vietnam. More often the greatest 

lesson I ever le~rned from him, the thing he probably ~aid more than anything 

else .•. when he had a meeti~g and it would be over ~nd we would be staying 

with him in his office to see what he wanted done next, ·he would say almost 

to himself, "It's not hard to do what's right. Anybody-with guts can do what 

is right. Sometimes it is goddamn hard to know what to do." And I think to 

a d_egree, not very stro_ng·, the television was the opposite view from what he . 

was hearing. It was alway~ my feeling that he .believed in what he was doi .ng, 

but he also could have done better at selecting the advisors that he listened 

to. Walt Rostow and Genera1 Taylor both .had a 1 ongtime fee 1i_ng about Vietnam 

and never wavered in · it. I think that is why Rostow's ·response to your ques­

tion. LBJ didn~t listen to much television, I also didn't think he wanted 

to hear the criticism that television was givi~g him. And President Johnson 

lost touch with TV people. I don't know how much he had, for instance, with 

Cronkite~ For a time he had ·made Chancellor, he had . appointed Chancellor 

to somethi~g tn US!A, Voice of America. But the wagons just got put in a 

circle and these outsiders weren't heard. The checkmarks on the transcripts 

of the memos about indicated at CBS currently .that probably I would think he 

~i ght have been especially i rrttated at CBS. He tho.ught that they \'/ere pi cki_ng 
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FLEMING INTERVIEW 10 

on him. It was not unusual for him to think that somebody had it in for 

him. And it could have been an honest disagreement. 

CULBERT: Do you have any remembrance of Johnson with his famous three TVs 

watching the news himself? I wondered a bit about why the memos give at 

least additional evidence that he was watching a 'lot of television himself. 

FLEMING: If there was something that was interesting on and we knew it was 

going to make the evening news, we would tell him so and· he might try to. 

But that thing was installed, I think , as much as anything by the White House 

Communications _Agency to show they could do it. You know, they would give 

him the push button desk control. He would occasional ly ·turn on all three 

sets and then watch and if .the picture was something 'that either him or some 

event he would flip the sound for that channel. It was a remote control thing
I ; 

in his hand. He didn't wa~ch daily. He would watch at eleven o'clock some­

times, the late news. For a while ABC had a network late news show ... I 

don't remember if any of the others did, but none of them survived very long 

for a network program and local programming wouldn't be adequate to take his 

attention. 

CULBERT: Well,. I. gather he must have watched some television in the morning. 

I think he kind of liked those morning shows where they would get his 

FLEMING: Dean Rusk one time said to me ..• I asked him why he went on the 

"Today Show" so often and he said, '' lt is the one p1 ace I can ta1 k to the 

President and forty senators and have nobody ta1k back ·to me . '' He would have 

the "Today Show'' on, to see who the guests were . He ·would on1 y have to push 

the button for the sound if it was somebody he knew in the Washington scene 

and the government and sometimes in the Senate . 
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CULBERT: You are giving me the kind of information that is especially 

valuable because though I am fascinated by tel.evision I'm not the least bit 

keen on magnifying in its presence that doesn't exist. When I looked at the 

record of what Johnson was doi~g day after day, it didn't look to me as though 

he could have physically have had time, so if that is what you are saying it 

confirms a suspicion. 

FLEMil~G: Most days he didn't. 

CULBERT: Do you recall anything about this Walter Cronkite special on 

February 27, 1968? . Geo_rge Christian told me that LBJ really did say what 

has been attributed to Christian and a couple of sources ·' that he watched this 

special where Cronkite had gone to Vietnam and .came ·back turned against the 

war and LBJ said, "Hell, if Cronkite is turning against ·me, I'm really losing 

Middle America." Well, do .. you recall any of this sort? 

FLEMING: No, I don't have anything .. . . 

CULBERT: Okay. 

·FLEMING: He was a very troubled man for quite a while in that period and 

withdrawn so we would sit there in the morning and get a minimum reaction 

from him duri_ng the .day. Somebody had the duty a11 the time. Anytime he 1eft 

the Oval Office somebody ... one of three or four ·of us were with him, mainly 

as an errand boy, and oftenti·mes he could 5e delightful. My wife ts favorite 

story about it is that he was_gofog in one day to the East Room. He was_goi_ng 

to present an award to someone as Teacher of the Year. Some magazine sponsored 

it. He came down out of the elevator and Mrs. Johnson · was with him, and he 

stood in the elevator readi_ng a 5 x 7 yellow card on which his remarks were 

typed. He said, "You know, they expect me to be witty for ftve minutes and 
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then in two minutes they want me to be serious about how important education 

is." He said, "Bird, what would you think if I dropped off the last two para­

graphs?" He handed her the card and she read it and she said, "Yes, I think 

you are right and I would leave them out." He turned to me and said, "What 

do you think, Bob?" And he handed me the cards. 

While she was reading the card he was watching her and I realized he was 

chewing gum. So, I always carried a pad of paper in my pocket and I reached 

in and got a sheet of the paper and I had it in- my hand. When he handed me 

the card to read the thing, he saw this piece of paper ·and he looked at it and 

he s a i d , "What i s th i s for? " I s a i d , "It i's for your- gum, s i r . 11 He s a i d , 

"Oh, all r_ight." Mrs. Johnson reached up and slapped me on the shoulder and 

said, "Bless you, Bob. If !_.he had walked in there chewing ·gum, the headlines 

would have said, 'Lyndon Johnson chews. gum in school,' and they wbuldn't have 

said anything about what he had to say. 11 

So we went in and did the thing and then as the routine called for, when 

the two of them came out I stood in the way and said, "Line?" That meant, 

"Do you want a recei vi _ng 1ine? 11 
. If he 1i ked the group and knew he had the 

time he would say yes. And this time he did, So, I stepped out of the way 

and said to the Marine Captain who was there, ''Line. 11 He stood up on the . · 

chair and said, ''Ladies and gentlemen, President and Mrs. Johnson will receive 

in the Blue Room. If you will form a line and follow me, I wi'll show you 

where to_go. " 

Meanwhile, I had turned t~ go catch up with him to see if he had anythi~g 

else in his mind. He walked right up to me and he was standing immediately 

behind me and he glared at me and sa.i·d, "Hhere is my gum?'' and turned around 
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and 	walked away. That was his kind of h~mor. He had that touch and could 

use it and did it, far more than he would ever let us tell people. Later in 

the day he said to me ·again, "If you print that gum story you are out." A 

number of times human things he did, because he said the reasoning was he 

would be accused of doing them just to get a favorable press. And that was 

not his purpose. He was just having a little fun, but he didn't like it to 

look like he was posing as a congenial soul. 

CULBERT: How about if you would say something in the sense of what your 

typi ca1 day might be or somethi_ng about your re 1 at i onshi p with George 

Christi an~ 

FLEMING: When it was Christian, the~ situation was quite different, because 

v 	 when Christian replaced Moyers he took over the going to the bedroom and I 

no longer did that. So I would then thereafter handle things Ge?rge wanted 

~ 	 done. The President never understood his staff structure. If he would run 

into you in the hal 1, he might say, ''I need such and such a paper. 11 I may 

have no idea what the paper was. And I would go to Marie Fehmer, who wa~ the 

best of his secretaries, and say, "The President just asked me for such and 

· such a paper. Do you know what this was about?" She generally could say, 

''Yes, that is something he wanted from the State Department. Dean Rusk sent · 

it over and it is on his desk,'' and I would go in and_get it off his desk 

and carry it where he was and he would. say, "Fine, thanks." But if I couldn't 

do it, because I wouldn't know what he meant, but Mrs. · Johnson would explain 

that to me very early that he didn't understand the staff functions. 

So when I first went, I would go to the bedroom ·each morning because Moyers 

wanted to. get out of that. Then I would come back and sit with Moyers a 1 o_ng 
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about nine o'clock and tell him whatever happened up there. Then at eleven 

o'clock we would have the first briefing of the day. In those days we had 
'( 

two a day. I think Christian had two a day all the time. Moyers or later 

Christian would call the President shortly beforehand ·and say, "This is 

what we think we are going to get asked and what is your reaction?'' Then 

the steno-typist would take it down on the briefing as ·we held it. When she 

would go to cut a stencil, the flimsy off the stencil was taken to LBJ. I 

think he wanted to see it that quickly. I think that ·was the source of the 

belief widely held that he had tapped the Press Offi·ce and could listen to it. 

I never had an experience where I thought he knew before he got the transcript. 

But I never thought he had bugged . in the first place ·he would call fo~ 

the tr51nscript from differ~nt places. Sometimes he ·would be back in the bed­

room and sometimes he would be in his Oval .Office. He had another little 

office next door where he spent considerable time .. And if he wasn't in the 

Oval Offtce when the transcript was ready, we would either ask the Secret 

Service where he was, ask one of the secretaries, or he would call and say, · 

"I'm back at the House, bring that briefing over." He would mutter about 

them and complain about hostile questions of someone and "Such and such reporter 

or something. He thinks he is a smart ass kid, doesn't he?'' 

One othe~ thing your questions brought to mind. One of the things I said 

to him very early was that I was impressed being .with him frequently--how much 

more re1axed he was when he was ta 1ki_ng in the East Room to a group of co_ngress­

men or vtsitors or somethi _ng and not tied to a podium. My su_ggestion would 

be that we would_get him away from that podium. I sai"d, "Basically, Mr. 

1 President, you are a teacher in your skill and you don't teach as well when 
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you 	 have to be at that podium." For news conferences he would have a book 

-./ 	 with questions in it, expected questions and answers and the thump tab where 

he had been through it and so on. If he got asked a -question somebody may 

say to him, "What are we doing about the Burma's skin problem?" It could be 

that he would know, but it also could be that he could quick flip it and he 

could glance at .some brief reminder. He would s6metimes but not often say, 

"I'm sorry but I'm not equipped to respond to that, but 11 11 get you an 

answe·r. 11 

But so we finally agreed that he was all owed to ·wear a microphone. He 

would try it. We used a microphone which hung around his chest. It is bigger 

than the present ones. It was about as big as a cigar butt and it was hanging 

to the electric cord hanging down to his belt in the back. When he got up on 

the 	platform, I would_grab .. the loose end of it and pl _ug in the electricity so 

the 	microphone was active. He used i"t one time and· everybody thought he was 

magnificent, far more relaxed. I've got ptctures of that when he waved his 

arms and ~estured and he stalked around it. When it was over I told him, · 

"That is the best I ever saw you . I hope you . will keep · on using that micro- .. 

phone. n Well, he said, "I didn't even notice that I had it on. 11 I said, 

"That is the answer for you. If you don't .notice _that you had it on and not 

worryi~g being conscious of it, then you are not anchored to it any more than 

you were to that podium," which is a big . we used to call it Mother. It 

was a big podium built with microphones built in the side ..• you didn't see 

them. But the next day, the New ·vark Times carried a page one story of 

Johnson's performance at the news conference the day before which was mindful 

of 	Jack Kennedy at his best. Well, I always felt he objected to the comparison 
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with Kennedy, but his comment was, "Now you are trying to make me into a 

perfo_rmer and I'm not an actor. I'm a president. And I won't wear that 

goddamn microphone again." And he wouldn't. 

Another mechanical incident ... he went down to San Antonio or he 

went down to the Ranch one weekend~ and Friday morning Marvin Watson called 

me and said, "The President wants to make a· speech toni·ght on Vietnam. 11 I 

said, 11 Where? 11 He said, 11 ! don't know. You just tell the networks that he 

wants to make a speech at eight o'clock on Vi etnam and see if they agree to 

carry it." I said, "Well, we have got to know where. ··Are we going back to 

Washington? And he said, 11 No, it is going to be here. 11 I said, "Is he going 

to do it from the Ranch?" The President ended up speaking that night at the 

San Antonio. Home S-uilders •· !,.Association. It was having its annual dinner dance 

in a big hall in San Antonio and it was the only place we ·could find where 

he could_get a crowd. Watson had ca11 ed the rea1 estate office and said, 

"Would you like to have the President be a speaker at your dinner?'' And of 

course, they said, "Yes." But when he called me back and told me that Isa.id, 

"You know, you are. going to give me a hell of a problem here." I said, "I've 

been in that building and looked it over and checked it out, because I knew 

sooner or later we would use it, and it .is goi_ng to be very hard to l_ight for 

television." Marvin laughed and said, ''That is your problem.'' 

So I called Washi_ngton and said, "I've got to have enough l _ights down 

here to H ght that room." The White House Communi cations _Agency sent down a 

bunch of l_i ghts on a p 1 a ne, but they a 1 so had .to be on 'extension po1 es on 

easels that rested on the floor. No way y6u could get in the balcony of this 

place. There was no balcony. You had to use the ceilfog to l_ight adequately. 
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So we had these things standing on eighteen foot poles and we had somebody 

standing at the bottom of each one to keep it from being knocked over. When 

the persons arrived .that night, I said, "Mr. President, you are going to have 

prob1ems with the 1 i ghts. They don't work very wel 1 ·because they are too 1ow 

but eighteen feet is as high as we can get them. Now if you will not look 

beyond the fourth table in an audience like this ~" When he came I said, 

"You can't look beyond the first four rows of .tables. You will be looking at 

the lights and they will blind you." So when he was through, i n fa ct , he 

hadn't looked up at all from the desk. 

As he wa 1ked off the stage I said, 11 I hope the 1 i ghts didn't bother you. •t 

And he said, "You and your damn ma ch foe." I said, "What machine? 11 If any­

thing went wro.ng it was my ..network or my newspapers, and if thfogs went fine 

it was the press or the New York Times or my friends at ·· css ~ so·~ I went to 

Colonel Albright, who was head of the White House Signal ... I keep calling 

it the Si gnal Corps. They .changed it to Communications Agency. "Wha t did 

something go wrong with the teleprompter? That is the only machi ne? " And 

he said, "No, that monHor worked fine. Let's look at what he looked at . 11 

We went up and all we could see was this brass cylinder and Jack said, "Oh, 

I know what happened." I said, 11 What happened? 11 He said, "This podium is in 

star.age out at the Ranch and I had two men clean it today and what they did 

was they crossed two wires and after they cleaned it, the machine ran back­

wards. When the Preside·nt started to talk the master ·control area ba ck behind 

him kept rolling right and the guy could keep pace with what the President was 

saying, but ·the one in front of him would run backwards just like toilet paper 

running off a roll. That is why he hadn't looked up, because all he could see 
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was a ~rass cylinder." Months afterwards he would say to me, "How about you 

and your machine?" 

That picture behind me is his State of the Union message and the night 

that he did it .. . come over here and look. Here i·s the teleprompter control 

back here going around. There is another onehere and they are hard to read, 

but you see behind ihose things were two one-way mirrors. So they requested 

his reading text, but no one else on this s id~ could -see that it wasn't 

just . , .. but he had me sit down here . . • : . . There ·is a little mirror to 

watch this ro 11 er of the te1 eprompter. I was instructed: 11 If anyth i_ng goes 

wrong you fix it with that hand. 11 No way i n the world I could fix it I 

knew nothing about it, but I was confident . by then because he had checked 

out thoroughly the . machine ~and tt worked. So, I sat down and three days · later 

he_gave me the picture and ·said, "Your machine worked fine that n_i ght, even 

tho_ugh it didn't work in San Antonio. 11 

I would think maybe a summary of his attitude is he never really liked 

television. He was often a little uncomfortable. But again, that was as much 

as anything because he had to stand within rang~ of the microphone, and if he 

could_ get up and move around then he would fo_rget about it. 

CULBERT: You mentioned this particular circumstance and refer to the .New 

York Times. Would you say in spite of all of what we heard about the three 

television screens, that Johnson got most of his information about the press 

either from memos that the staff members prepared about television or from 

reading newspapers? 

FLEMING: Newspapers, I think so. Of course he had an awful lot of input that 

was not media. One thing that I learned at the White House was that the 
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reporters get a small fraction of the facts of any story. There were many 

reporters that he would read with interest because he knew the columnist was 

a commentator that would analyze his action or motive, but they often didn't 

know near as much .about the subject as he would have known frcim his sources 

that he had. 

CULBERT: There are a couple of rather extreme memos . . ... Of course, that 

is probably you can't get enough of a staff and. guys full of ideas and I don't 

mean because I found a memo that I've concluded anything, but some of them are 

pretty tough about what is really operation ro11 back on these television com-· 
I 

mentators and on some of the guys 
I 

from the press. Do you ever recall getting 

any instructions to try and lean on anybody that was doi .ng anything? 

FLEMING: Not outside of just one ti·me I had .a bad briefing one day and they 

were tough on me. He called me and said, ''You don't take · that.~\ He said, 

"You work for me and they have got to know." And I said, 11 Mr .. President, I 

know a11 these f e 11 ows. I've been friends of theirs for twenty yea rs and it 

doesn't bother me any. Hhen they accuse me of not te11 i .ng them a11 I know 

and you have told me what ·I am to tell them, now I will just say to them, 'Now 

it is not going to do any good to shout and scream; that is all we hav~ got 

on the subject.' 11 He reached in his pocket. ''I still care about you .. " He 

. got a cigarette lighter out of his desk drawer. It has got his seal on it 

and his name is down at the bottom. He had a lot of these and he slid it across 

the desk and he said, "Next I want you to look for a chance and when 

they are picking on you, sit down and load up that pipe of yours. Light the 

pipe, put your feet on the desk and say, 'Ladies and gentlemen of the press, 

screw you. 111 And I said, ''Mr. President, r can't say that." He satd, "You 
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say it and if anybody comp1 a ins about it, you te11 them I to1 d you to say it. 11 

Within an hour Valenti came in and he said, "Have you got a lighter from the 

boss?" He said, · "Can I have it back? I'm supposed to have something engraved 

on it." I said / "No, you ·are not goi_ng to get that instructions engraved on . 

it." And I didn't give it back . But I think most of us became well acquainted 

v 	 when he was mad at somebody . It was relatively a passing thing, I think . 

CULBERT: One of the things that has gotten into the . . . 

FLEMING: I never knew Peter Benchley . Did any memo . ? I never knew 

exactly what .Peter Benchley did when he was around. 

CULBERT: Well, he came in and that was his assignmerit-particularly to do some 

work in television and then he got out again. 

FLEMING: Well, he came in ~through the aegis of Bob Kintner, who had been 

the president of NBC. Kintner was never certain what his · function was there 

either as he tried to create. You were saying . 

CULBERT: Yea, I was going to ask you about something that I have thought 

probably_didn't happen very often and that is, do you sense that LBJ quHe 

often would get on the phone and call ~o~e reporter? 

FLEMING: No, I know of it a few times, but I never .. . I tho_ught ;·twas one 

of those thi _ngs that. got m_agnified with the telling. An example: He called 

Merriman Smith one day and complainted bitterly. Smitty was the UPI senior 

correspondent. Smitty had written in a column called 11 Backstatrs at the White 

House," that LBJ had smashed a boat onto a rock down at Lake LBJ, and Johnson 

called him and just insisted that this never happened ~ About a month later, 

as I recall, Snitty's son was killed in Vietnam . He was a helicopter pilot. 

And a White House military aide called me at hone and said~ ncause ·you are 

\ 
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a good friend of Smitty's, been a friend a long time, I 1 11 tell you that we 

have just learned that his son had been killed in Vietnam and the President 

is trying to reach him by phone." We 11 , Smitty 1 s problem ·was that there had 

been periods in his life that he drank too much to the point that at one time 

UPI had pulled him off the White House and made him the third man covering 

the Treasury Department, which was the first job he had when he came to to.w.n, 

trying to jolt him back. · And as far as any of us knel/1 he hadn 1 t had a drink 

in quite a while. But here all of a sudden was the death of his son. So I 

called Bill Lawrence who worked for me at ABC and was a cl-0se friend of Smith's 

and said, "Wi 11 you go out to Smitty's house and just be there. 11 I wanted a 

close friend of his to be with him and in a little wh i le ·Lawrence called me 

and said, "I don't need to be here.'' · Bill said LBJ called Smitty and tol~. him 

he was going to put a plane at his disposal to go any place he wanted. ·If he
' . 

wanted to. go to Vietnam, fine, whenever he wanted to go. Bi11 said, "Smitty 

is now packing and is going down to South Carolina to be with his da.ughter-in­

law, the widow of the newly killed kid.'' So Bill said, 11 ! '11 . go to the air­

port to Andrews with him and see that he gets on the airplane." Bill had been 

thro.ugh the liquor problem too and he knew what Sr1itty 's problem was and he 

said, ''He will do all r.ight. '' 

So after he. got down there Smitty ca 11 ed me and asked me to. go to the 

Gridiron dinner with him. I said, "Smitty, I would love to. go, but I don't 

think you should go, because if you stay down there until just the day before 

the Gri' di ran and then come back, every one of your friends i. s goi _ng to ta l f< 

to you about your boy and you are goi.ng to have a mi serab1e evening.'' So he 

said, "Well, I'll see." So the next morning I said to the President that I 
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had said this to Smitty. · He said, 11 ! think that is a good idea. Let me 

see if I can move on that. 11 So he called Smitty down in South Carolina and 

said, "Smitty, instead of hurrying to come back here, why .don't you take a 

leave of absence? Do a book on me. I'll make all the papers you want avail­

able. Anything we have got. 11 And he said, "I've got a house down there at 

the Ranch and Lake LBJ that you can use. In fact, I· have ··got a boat down · 

there that you would love to use if they have got the thtng repaired after I 

smashed up on .that rock. 11 Smitty told me the story later. Said he just 

wanted to say, "Is that the rock you denied you ever ran ·into?" But he would 

not. . Well, I shouldn't generalize. There were times when Lyndon 

Johnson was fact and sometimes fancy~ Oh, yea~ I would .have to say also on 

minor matters. So, he was mad at Smith for saying he had cracked up. 

Side 2 

FLEMING: ..• the logs down there at the Library would tell you because they 

logged everything he did. 

CULBERT: Yea, that was what I was looking .•. but I'm sure it was possible 

for him to call someone without a record being made. I think the record is 

every ca11 that went out of the Oval Office, but stil 1 if he were ca11 i ng any­

thing like . . ... You would think from the stories runni~g around then there 

would be records and I can't find the records. · 

FLEMING: I think it was one of those th fogs that grows and everybody wanted 

to be in on the act. 

CULBERT: One of the things that interested me in what I could find of records 

there concerned all kinds of mess.ages, . phone calls, letters and et cetera from 

Frank Stanton. I got the impression that in one sense of all of LBJ's 

.. "·. 
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involvement with Frank Stanton that you would imagine that this was designed 

. among other things to make sure he got a good break on CBS television, and 

it didn't work out very much that way. 


FLEMING: I would doubt that it was. I think it wa~ more the fact that 


Frank Stanton was one of those who directed LBJ's investment in television 


property, that their station in Austin was a CBS station .. And I think . it 


was Goldwater that said one time, "A bigot is a man narrow-minded enough to 


think there ought to be more than one television station ·;n Austin, Texas. 11 


But I really don't know much about the Stanton/Johnson friendship, except that 


I don't think it has ever paid off as far as influencing CBS News much. 


CULBERT: Do you know whether anybody did anything about these memos that 


you were preparing or you s.aid it didn't last for very long and then .. ., ? 


FLEMING: He read them and.then when he tired of them, we must have had the 


word that we could spend our time on something else, 


CULBERT: Would you say it is far based on you.r observation of the President 


that he really was almost obsessed with the media coverage and getti~g info~­


mation? I never heard of anybody who wanted to pay as much attention to what 


people were saytng about them. Of course, I'm not president. 


FLEMING: I think it is reasonable. I'm not going to say· obsessed but he was 


certainly actively interested. l don't know.whether you know the story of 


Joe Laitfo? Laitin, when he went down there, said LBJ ·used ·to call him every 


night and want to know what the press 
was doi.ng. And one n_i ght, La iti n says, 

he didn't have any story for him, so he invented a .story about an AP reporter 

and in a little while the President called him and said his story just moved 
1on the AP wire that says such and such and obviously this guy had been out 
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chasing girls and dreamed up a story like that. Andlaitin said he thought · 

very fast and his answer was, 11 Well, that is what people ·in New York wanted 

to know too, so they ca 11 ed him back and sent somebody e1 se in here to replace 

him." Later, Joe said he fabricated the story, but LBJ was interested always 

in reporters, but Laitin 1 s story that he was often ·interested in their mi's­

behavior or their moral conduct. I never saw any specia-1 evidence of that. 

CULBERT: Did you ever hear from any of these reminiscences or anything else 

where Johnson might have talked of when he first started~etting interested 

in watching television? Like .do you know whether he had television sets in 

his office in the S~nate? Did he ever talk about listening to the radio in 

his early campaigns? 

FLEMING: We 11, when he sa i.d . . . I remember he would be sayi .ng to me, I 

would brag about it a lot.~ Then when he said he knew me, · liked me and trusted 

me, I had done two interview shows with the producer for ABC in his office a.t 

the White House and on both of them he th~ught they went well and he liked 

them. Now retrospect I can't remember and I wouldn't have known at the time. 

It may have been that I thought h~ got the kind of questions he wanted to 

answer and therefore he liked the way he was treated by the reporters and there­

fore everybody around him had ·an aura of confidence that. . . . • I would think 

George Reedy might be the best to ask that. I don't know whether you know 

Reedy is now at Marquette. 

CULBERT: Yes, I know. They did a long interview with him for the Library and 

I looked through all of that, They di'dn't ask him this particular question. 

Did you think that your appointment because of your television background
..r 

ended up being something where actually maybe you were being appointed so it 
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would look as though the White House cared about television, or would you 

say. . . ? 

FLEMING: I think actually it was there was an intention to ·pay more attention 

to it. I never would have known and it was one of·my earlier questions to go 

talk to Moyers of whether or not . I've often wondere'd how much my : .. ·· .1 

influence diminished .when Moyers left. But I knew I wasn't going t6 be the 

press secretary ·and didn't ' waht to ::be the press secretary ~ And George 

Christian and I got along very well, but I think LBJ was just not goi _ng to 

change a greal deal in his own methods and attitude. I don't think anybody 

else would have changed him much more. 

CULBERT: Maybe I can ask just one last question and that is sort of a 

general one. Do you have any opinion, simply having gone through this period 

in the position that you did, about television's coverage of the war in 

Vietnam? How it affected even people in Washington or you personally? 

FLEMING: Well, I think it exists. I said it in a speech, which caused some 

of the correspondents out there to get pretty angry, that the Vietnam War 

was so unlike the previous wars that most correspondents were sent there 

because they had great legs and useful energy. The result was that instead 

of choosing the men who had been through even a considerable amount of domestic 

coverage, that would give them a little more balanced judgment .• . covered 

legislatures or the Congress, or the Capitol or .something, they took these 

energetic and young guys and sent them out there. Most .of th~ good ones, the 

ones that were really good, made their reputation there without us knowing what 

their conditions they were worki _ng under or ho~~ good they were." I never knew 

or ever became convinced that Halberstam or Mal Brown or two or three more 
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of the young ones who got well known ... I didn't have any way of knowing 

how well they did the job. I think the only way you can judge a man, a fellow 

reporter, is to cover the same thing he covers for a time and know what your 

impressions are and then read or look at what he does and see if they measure 

up to your beliefs. That he did as well as he could especially when you know 

that television is going to take just a tiny segment or whatnot. 

CULBERT: Did you yourself have an impression of how .. • ··what kind of a 

job television was doing of covering the war in Vietnam? · 

FLEMING: No, I suppose not. At least at the time I didn't~ In retrospect 

certainly it was a definite factor in the public reaction of how much . the 

blood, guts and horror of that war and possibly would have been true of any 

war, but how much at that time came into the living rooms and families saw 

it at home. I've often woRdered whether or not our attitud~ on World War II 

would have been different if we had had photographs of what actually went on 

on the ground in the cities we bombed. Certainly I didn't even know how many 

Russians Stalin had ordered killed in his purges . I thought Stalin was an · 

ally and therefore on the side of the 11 good_guys" and only history told me of 

the cruel tyrant that he was. He was helpi _ng. . . . Well, I was in World War 

II and didn't get into his area at all, but anybody on the other ~ide had a 

certain brutish look about him, whether the fact it wasn't factual. And as I 

say there wasn't television then to let us know. 

CULBERT: Do you spend much time with television now? 

FLEMING: Not a great deal, no ... surprised really how little. Actually I 

get home about the time that network news shows are on. Because for so lo~g 

I was worki·ng downtown. I saw so little of my wife that I help get supper and 
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we sit at the supper table for forty minutes and by then the news shows are 
over and we go look at "MASH" maybe or whatever few shows a day. I don't know 
whether Cronkite would be any judge or whether he would know if they ever tried · 
or if he ever felt any, or he would say whether if the President ever tried to
influence him. I don't know how much time Valenti has to see people whether 

or not that they are not useful to you. Moyers would be . But I think one 

reason why there isn't any Moyers tape in the Library is that there was a 
falling out. I never understood it. I could see it coming and all of a sud­
den .. and Moyers never said goodbye to me. He wrote me a two and one half page
page hand-written letter generally apologizing for having not being able to 
achieve for me what he hoped he could or what I tho.ught I could. And my wife 
thinks I was hurt by goi .ng." .. . I don't feel that ... I wouldn't have had 
much more responsibility .• 

The only problem that I had was and I left the White House . . . first 
place there was a Republican president coming in. Well, I left the White 
House at LBJ's su.ggestion to go to USIA and he said, 11 If Humphrey wins in 
November he will pull you out of there fast and use you for something better, 
but if he doesn't you may be there long enough so Nixon won't notice you are 
there. 11 We11 , I stayed until the first of the fo 11 owing. April when Frank 
Shakespeare, who had come down from New York to CBS with Nixon called me and 
said, "I hate to do this, but I have got to fi.nd some more slots here for 
people of the Nixon team. Then as I looked around the media, the general feel­

11ing was that you are such a known Democrat. · I had never been a known 
Democrat. I had voted for more Democrats than Republicans, but then I came up 
to the Hi 11 because very frankly because the pens ion pr.ogram was the best fast 
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one in government life available to me. Well, there are several people in 
media organizations both newspaper and magazines. I said I would waive pen­
·sion right. I just can't. The law won't let us do that, but then when I 

talked to three different schools about going into journalism, teach jour­
nal ism, I heard simply that Washington was an anchor for us. We got a house 
we are extremely fond of, two boys in town and my wife was active here and 
I didn't care about leaving. I always knew I never was much good appearing 
on television anyway. I n~ver was going to get to be anchor man some place, 
but under Hagerty's supervision I have been responsible for ' building the 
Washington bureau of ABC and where it started out .with seven people when I 
joined it and it was a hundred and s ixteen when I left. 

I don't think of anything else, but I would say if you ·come across some 
individual questions that occur to you and if you want to write --0r call, we 
will see if we can be of some more help. 

CULBERT: Okay , thank you very much. 

FLEMING: Do you think you have got it far enough along to have a publisher 
lined up? 

End of ·tape 
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